THESSALONIKI WALLS

The city was first fortified by Cassander when he first founded it in 315 BC. The walls of Thessaloniki as we see them today are the result of construction, extension, and repair work that went on from the fourth century BC to the period of the Ottoman rule. They were originally 8 kilometres long. Unfortunately only 4 of them survive today.. They were trapezoidal in layout with two arms running at the right angles up to the east and west sides of the triangular acropolis.. The Sea Wall extended along what is now Proxenou Koromila St. where the sea-shore was in Roman Times. The Walls were between ten and twelve metres high consisting of stone blocks held together with sand based mortar and also incorporating pieces of marble from ancient monuments in the city. Communications between the city and the countryside took place through a number of gates. Only the gates of the north wall have survived down to the present day. The fortifications of Thessaloniki were In a relatively good condition until the end of the nineteenth century when they were demolished to allow the city expand.
The lie of the Byzantine walls of Thessalonike coincides with that of the Roman ones. Built of wide courses of undressed stones and narrow ones of brick over a length of five miles, they were almost square in plan and 30-36 feet in height, while to the north they were joined to the walls of the Acropolis.
  Fortified at intervals with towers and gates, the wall was a double one, at least in the more level sections, the inner and outer wall having a distance of ten metres between them. There were no gates in the sea walls, while the artificial harbour built by Constantine the Great within the walls had a low wall around it facing the city and a breakwater, the Tzeremboulon, on its seaward side.
  Extensive rebuilding of the walls was carried out in Early Christian times (late 4th-early 5th centuries) by Ormisdas, while frequent barbarian raids in the 5th and 6th centuries necessitated frequent reinforcement of the walls. The ease with which the Saracens captured the city in 904 through the defenders' negligence led to the walls being strengthened to resist the danger presented by the Bulgarians.
  Major repair work was undertaken in the 13th and 14th centuries by the Palaeologan dynasty both to the walls (e.g. the Anna Palaeologina Gate) and to the Eptapyrgion (Acropolis). Venetian indifference facilitated the capture of Thessalonike by the Turks, who then paid great attention to the city's fortifications.

THESSALONIKI UNDER OTTOMAN RULE

An apt description of Thessaloniki during the approximately five centuries under Ottoman 

rule is that of a “multinational” city. There were three dominant nationalities, which together 

composed the majority of its population: Jews, Turks, and Greeks. In addition, there were many 

others that were counted as part of one or another group, and distinguished on the basis of their 

religion: Albanians, Arabs, and Jews who had converted to Islam were grouped with the Turks; 

Vlachs and those of Slavic descent with the Greeks, and Jews from various European countries, 

with their particular languages and customs, all composed a colorful and multilingual crowd. 

Together with these groups coexisted a small number of Europeans –from France, England, Italy, 

and Malta– who exerted a significant economic influence on the life of the city. 

It would be interesting to take a closer look at how all these different nationalities lived 

and functioned within the city walls. We probably know a great deal more about the life of the 

ancient Greeks in the age of Pericles than about how our own grandfathers lived two or three 

generations ago. It is a rather common misconception that the Ottoman occupation was an era 

without changes from beginning to end, and people extrapolate the way of life from its final 

years, which are the best known, back to the 15th century. The rate of change was certainly much 

slower than what it is today, but it would be incorrect to believe that nothing changed for 500 

years. 
Historical framework 
Turkish warriors first appeared outside the city walls around 1372. These were marauders 

following the famous Gazi Evrenos Bey. They played an important role in the sieges of Thessaloniki, 

settling at Giannitsa and surrounding villages. The city’s inhabitants, blockaded for five years 

and with no assistance from the Byzantine state, were compelled to surrender with terms to the 

Ottoman forces in 1387. They paid the capitulation tax, a Turkish garrison was installed in the city, 

and the Acheiropoiitos Church was converted to a mosque. 

Ottoman benevolence did not last long. According to the Byzantine historian Doukas, in 

1394 Sultan Bayezid I “seized Thessaloniki and the villages around it.” Probably this “seized” meant 

that Bayezid applied to the region of Thessaloniki the Ottoman policy of complete subjugation, 

doing away with various privileges and imposing the feudal system. No contemporary historian 

mentions a second siege and the sacking of the city that would normally follow. 

In the Homilies of Isidore, Archbishop of Thessaloniki during that period, there are references 

that lead to the conclusion that a fair number of the churches in the city had been confiscated 

by the Turks, and that new taxes had been imposed, among them the tribute of children (Gk. 

paidomazoma), a rather new Ottoman institution at the time. 

During the first decades of the 15th century, Thessaloniki became Byzantine once again for 

a brief time. At the Battle of Ankara in 1402, Bayezid I was defeated by Tamerlane, and fell into 

his hands as a prisoner of war; the Ottoman state was then divided among Bayezid’s sons, who 

immediately engaged in civil war. In 1403 one of these sons, Suleiman, who had gained control 

of the Ottoman regions in Europe, returned Thessaloniki and some of its surrounding areas to 

Emperor Manuel II, in order to secure Byzantine alliance. During this period, the city suffered a 

great deal. It was twice besieged, in 1412 and 1416, and began paying a heavy poll tax. Evrenos 

Bey’s warriors engaged in constant raids, and the city’s inhabitants did not dare to emerge from 

its walls, not even to bury their dead. Hunger and insecurity compelled many to abandon the 

city. Seeing that he could no longer defend it, in 1423 its governor, Andronikos, surrendered the 

city to the Venetians. Their harsh stance towards the Orthodox residents, and the inadequate 

measures they took to deal with the Turkish threat, led the inhabitants once more to flee, and 

Thessaloniki remained nearly deserted

The end of this period of unrest came on March 29, 1430. After a siege of only a few days, 

Sultan Murad II took the city by storm, followed by a two-day sack. Any remaining inhabitants 

were either killed or enslaved. On the third day, the Sultan entered the city and prayed at 

Acheiropoiitos, which once again became a mosque. 
The revival of the city under Ottoman rule

The Sultan attempted to bring the city back to life; after so many disastrous adventures, it 

lay deserted and in ruins. It was also necessary for him to turn it into an Islamic city to enable the 

settlement of Muslims. Ioannis Anagnostis, eyewitness to the events, states that Murad II bought 

back and freed many prisoners of war, and urged his officers to do the same; he repaired the city 

walls and towers, and offered residences, monasteries, and churches to many who wished to 

return. In addition, 1,000 residents of Giannitsa were forced to relocate to Thessaloniki, while tax 

exemptions were granted to all who settled in the city.

The transformation of Thessaloniki into an Islamic city was not difficult. First of all, mosques, 

required for the prayers of the faithful, were necessary. The city had been taken by storm, and 

according to Islamic principles all its churches had been confiscated and could easily be turned 

into Islamic precincts. Some were returned to Christians, given that there were not many Turks in 

the town and they did not need many mosques, but these were repossessed when the Turkish 

population increased: in 1492, they took Saint Demetrius; in 1500, Saint Panteleimon, and in 1510, 

Saint Aikaterini. Between 1520-1523, the Church of the Apostles (Saint Apostoloi) was turned 

into another mosque. In 1525, Saint Sophia became a mosque, and the Rotunda was converted 

in 1590; at that time it was serving as the cathedral of Thessaloniki and was known as the Church 

of the Angels (Angeloi). 
Churches and monasteries 

Only a few small churches belonging to Mt. Athos monasteries, which had surrendered 

shortly before the city’s occupation, remained Christian: Panagia Dexia (known at that time as 

the Church of Saint Ypatios), Ypapanti, Panagouda, Saint Athanassios, Saint Nikolaos, Saint Minas, 

and a few others. They were all situated in large courtyards, surrounded by houses and without 

bell-towers, so as not to attract the attention of Muslims and run the risk of becoming the target 

of religious fanaticism. All were renovated and expanded in the 19th century, something strictly 

forbidden up to that time. The city’s population used them as parish churches up until the end 

of Ottoman rule. 

From among the numerous Byzantine monasteries in the city, only a very few continued to 

exist following its conquest. The only one that managed to survive throughout the entire period 

of Ottoman rule was Vlatadon, also known as “Tsaous Monastir”. 
Mosques and convents (tekke)

There was a large number of mosques in Thessaloniki; thirty-eight are recorded, whose 

minarets gave the impression of a forest to anyone approaching the city from the sea. There 

were also another forty-nine small neighborhood mosques, without minarets. With schools and 

medreses attached to them, mosques were centers of Muslim religious life and education, as well 

as of social life, as all Muslims gathered there to receive news and learn about new government 

regulations, or to discuss the city’s problems. Today only three mosques built by the Turks remain: 

that of Hamza Bey on Egnatia Street in front of the Caravan-Serai, the covered courtyard of which 

housed for years the Alcazar cinema; Alatza Imaret in the upper city, which took its name from 

its multi-colored minaret and its poor-house; and Geni Tzami/(New Mosque), built in 1902 by the 

Dönme, Jewish converts to Islam; this is today known as the “Old Archaeological Museum”. 

An important role in Muslim life was also played by the tekke, the religious foundations 

where dervishes lived. They were much closer to the everyday people compared to the educated 

ulemas, who oversaw the mosques, the judicial system, and education. It was the dervishes from 

whom both rich and poor sought advice or a cure for an illness, either with holy water, or with a 

blessing from the grave of some Muslim saint the tekke held, or through spells and prayers offered 

by the head of a tekke, the sheikh. There was a large number of tekke in Thessaloniki; nearly every 

neighborhood had at least one. The most famous were that of the Bektashi dervishes, with which 

the Janissaries were affiliated, and that of the Mevlevis, the whirling dervishes. The latter, which 

was the city’s largest and most famous, was located outside its walls at a site renowned for its 

beauty, where the western extension of Aghiou Dimitriou Street 

Baths

The Turks also need baths, essential for the purification of believers before prayer. Using 

materials from Byzantine buildings, Murad made sure to build the first Turkish baths in the city 

at a central location. They were named the Bey Hammami, the “Baths of Bey”, because he had 

not yet acquired the title of Sultan; rather, he still retained this old Turkish title. These are the 

baths known to all today as the “Paradise Baths” (Gk. Loutra Paradeisos), the city’s oldest Turkish 

monument. 
Neighborhoods

For many years the Turkish and Greek populations lived in the same areas, “co-mingled” as 

Ioannis Anagnostis writes. In the population census of 1478, about fifty years after the city’s 

fall, the Turks comprised twenty-seven small groups, each with its own mosque, residing in 9 

neighborhoods that still retained their Byzantine names, e.g., Hippodromiou, Aghias Pelagias, 

Chrysi, Asomaton, Omphalou, and Kataphygis. Christians lived in these same neighborhoods; 

there were 4,000 Turks, and 6,000 Christians. The city’s few Greek-speaking Jews, the Romaniotes, 

had been transported to Constantinople after 1453; they must have returned to Thessaloniki 

when from 1492 onward and throughout the entire 16th century great numbers of Jews, who 

found refuge in the Ottoman Empire upon their expulsion from Spain, Italy and central Europe, 

settled in the city. 

The settlement of these Jews in Thessaloniki not only altered the character of the city, but also 

greatly encouraged its commercial and industrial development. The Jews brought with them 

technical skills unfamiliar in the East. For many years they had undertaken the making of felt used 

for the Janissaries’ uniforms, thus earning wealth and many privileges. They comprised the largest 

and most powerful single group of Jews in Europe during the 16th century, and Thessaloniki 

became the center of Judaism: the school and large library founded in the area where Kapani 

is located today, known as the Talmud-Tora, was a center of Judaic studies famed throughout 

Europe. The city’s Rabbinate was also located there.

Around 1525, Christians were living in ten neighborhoods, all with their Byzantine names, 

and Turks in thirty-eight. The number of Turks and Greeks was nearly equal, about 8,000 and 

9,000 respectively. The Jewish population is estimated to have been about 15,000 at that time, 

but we do not have precise data. 

The city’s population slowly began to be limited to particular areas, and to form separate 

residential districts. The Turks abandoned the flat, lower districts of the city and occupied its 

more elevated parts, on the acropolis and in the modern-day upper city, for reasons of security 

and hygiene. Many previously uninhabited areas filled with houses, though without any town 

planning. Turkish houses were usually two-storied and faced towards the sea. The Greeks 

lived largely in the eastern part of the city, along the length of the modern Egnatia Street, and 

even in neighborhoods whose churches had become mosques, such as Acheiropoiitos. One 

neighborhood, Chrysi, was located near the western walls, but from the time its church, Saint 

Aikaterini, became a mosque, its residents worshipped at Saint Minas, which had no other 

congregation, situated as it was in the city’s marketplace. Several neighborhoods retained their 

Byzantine names, and many of the residents’ names were of Byzantine origin.

The number of Jews in the city increased significantly. Their neighborhoods occupied the 

city center, with some in the market area, stretching from the wall along the coast up to Egnatia. 

Only the Dönme, the Jewish converts to Islam, were settled between the two communities, in 

the area of modern-day Dikastiriou Square, between the Roman Agora and extending up to 

Egnatia. Jewish houses were usually located in the least healthy part of the city, built around a 

central courtyard, without water or hygienic installations. The number of their synagogues had 

increased, and most were named after the regions from where the Jews who built them had 

come: Pulia (from Apulia, in Italy), Aragon, Castille, Portugal, and others. 

